
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Sheila Dykes 
 

Email: sheila.dykes@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 24 January 2024 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) 
 

The Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) will meet in the Council 
Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 1 February 
2024. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 11:20 a.m. to undertake site visits. The consideration 
of planning applications will commence at 1.00 pm. in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Huddersfield.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 

The Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) members are:- 
 

 
When a Member of the Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) cannot attend the 
meeting, a member of the Substitutes Panel (below) may attend in their place in 
accordance with the provision of Council Procedure Rule 35(7). 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
B Armer 
D Hall 
A Gregg 
R Smith 
J Taylor 
M Thompson

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper

Labour 
B Addy 
S Hall 
P Moore  
E Firth 
T Hawkins 
H Zaman 

Liberal Democrat 
J Lawson 
A Munro 
A Pinnock 
A Smith 

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 
Councillor Donna Bellamy 
Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 
Councillor James Homewood 
Councillor Manisha Roma Kaushik 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Jo Lawson 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Andrew Marchington 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Bernard McGuin 
Councillor Imran Safdar 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  

 
Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Sub-Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting and details of substitutions and for 
whom they are attending. 

 
 

 

 
 

2:   Minutes of previous meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 
30th November 2023. 

 
 

1 - 2 

 
 

3:   Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests, any other 
interests, or been lobbied, which may prevent them from 
participating in any discussion of the items or participating in any 
vote upon the items. 

 
 

3 - 4 

 
 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 

 
 

 

 
 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 

 



 

 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 
Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 

 
 

 

6:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application No. 2023/93291 
 
Site visit to commence at approximately 11:30 a.m. 

 
 

 

 

Planning Applications 
 

5 - 6 

The Planning Sub Committee will consider the attached schedule of Planning Applications. 
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the meeting must 
register no later than 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 11:59pm (for email requests) on 
Monday 29th January 2024.                    .  
 
To register, please email governance.planning@kirklees.gov.uk or phone the Governance 
Team on 01484 221000 ext 73896 Sheila Dykes or ext 74993 Andrea Woodside. 
 
 

8:   Planning Application: 2023/93291 
 
Application for the erection of single storey extension and raised 
terrace at 18 Saint Francis Gardens, Fixby, Huddersfield. 
 
Contact: Laura Yeadon, Planning Services 

 
 

7 - 20 

 
 

Planning Update 
 

 

An update report providing further information on matters raised after the publication of the 
agenda will be added to the online agenda prior to the meeting. 
 



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 
 

Thursday 30th November 2023 
 
Present: Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 

Councillor Beverley Addy 
 Councillor Donna Bellamy 

Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 
Councillor James Homewood 
Councillor Jo Lawson 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Bernard McGuin 
Councillor Imran Safdar 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 

  
Apologies: Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 

Councillor Andrew Marchington 
 

 
1 Membership of the Sub-Committee 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Lee-Richards and 
Councillor Marchington. 
 
Councillor Addy substituted for Councillor Kaushik. 
 

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 19 Octber 2023 be approved 
as a correct record.  
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
Councillor Addy advised that she had previously coached for the football club, and 
that the site was within her ward.  
 
Councillor Bellamy advised that she had been lobbied previously in her capacity as 
former ward member. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received.  
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) -  30 November 2023 
 

2 
 

 
7 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/90876 

The Sub Committee gave consideration to Application 2023/90876 – Variation of 
conditions 4 and 5 (hours of use) on previous permission 2018/93872 for 
replacement of existing Redgra track with 3G synthetic turf pitch consisting 
spectator area, perimeter fencing, floodlights, storage container and link path at 
Colne Valley High School, Gillroyd Lane, Linthwaite.  
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 36(3), the Sub-Committee received 
a representations from Councillor McCarthy and Councillor McLaughlin (local 
members). 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub-Committee received 
representations from Lee Richardson (Mirfield Free Grammar School), Jane Travis 
(Linthwaite Ardon School), Natalie Bradbury (local resident), Liz Quinn (Pride in 
Linthwaite CIC), James Carter (Linthwaite Football Club Secretary), Phil Green 
(local resident), Laura Dearnley (local resident) and Dean Hemingway (local 
resident).  
 
RESOLVED – That, contrary to the Officer’s Recommendation, the application be 
approved on the grounds that the health, wellbeing and other benefits associated 
with the extended use of the pitch would outweigh the potential harm to residential 
amenity. 
 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Addy, Bellamy, P A Davies, Homewood, Khan, J D Lawson, 
McGrath, McGuin, Safdar and Sokhal (10 votes) 
Against: (no votes) 
Abstained: Councillor Ullah  
 
 

Page 2



 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS AND LOBBYING 
 

Planning Sub-Committee/Strategic Planning Committee 

Name of Councillor 

Item in which 
you have an 
interest 

Type of interest (eg a 
disclosable pecuniary 
interest or an “Other 
Interest”) 

Does the nature of the interest require you to 
withdraw from the meeting while the item in which 
you have an interest is under consideration?  [Y/N] 

Brief description 
of your interest 

    

    

LOBBYING 
 

Date Application/Page 
No. 

Lobbied By 
(Name of 
person) 

Applicant Objector Supporter Action taken / 
Advice given 

       

       

       

 
 

Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: …………………………………….. 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 3:



NOTES 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable pecuniary interests under the new national rules. Any reference to 
spouse or civil partner includes any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil partner. 

 
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 

 
Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has 
a beneficial interest) and your council or authority - 

• under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
• which has not been fully discharged. 

Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or 
authority for a month or longer. 

 
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - the landlord is your council or authority; and the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest. 

 
Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of your council or authority; and 
(b) either - 

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 

Lobbying 
 
If you are approached by any Member of the public in respect of an application on the agenda you must declared that you have been lobbied. A 
declaration of lobbying does not affect your ability to participate in the consideration or determination of the application. 

P
age 4



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this Agenda 
the following information applies: 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of planning 
applications for the development or use of land unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  
 
The statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 
27th February 2019).  
 
National Policy/ Guidelines  
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, 
primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 20th July 2021, 
the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 2014 together 
with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical guidance.  
 
The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets out 
how people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the 
development management process relating to planning applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and 
neighbour letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development Management 
Charter and in full accordance with the requirements of regulation, statute and 
national guidance.  
 
EQUALITY ISSUES   
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have due 
regard to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing equality of 
opportunity and fostering good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share that characteristic. The relevant 
protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 
In the event that a specific development proposal has particular equality implications, 
the report will detail how the duty to have “due regard” to them has been discharged. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Annex



HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:-  
 

 Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life.  
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right to peaceful enjoyment of property 
and possessions.   

 
The Council considers that the recommendations within the reports are in 
accordance with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and 
freedoms of others and in the public interest.  
 
PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 55  of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that 
Local Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of planning condition or obligations.   
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 stipulates that planning 
obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the development; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The NPPF and further guidance in the PPGS  launched on 6th March 2014 require 
that planning conditions should only be imposed where they meet a series of key 
tests; these are in summary: 
 

1. necessary; 

2. relevant to planning and; 

3. to the development to be permitted; 

4. enforceable; 

5. precise and; 

6. reasonable in all other respects 

 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before the 
Planning sub-committee have been made in accordance with the above 
requirements. 

Page 6



 

 
 
 
 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
 
HUDDERSFIELD PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 01-Feb-2024 

Subject: Planning Application 2023/93291 Erection of single storey extension 
and raised terrace 18, Saint Francis Gardens, Fixby, Huddersfield, HD2 2EU 

 
APPLICANT 

J Uppal 

 
DATE VALID TARGET DATE EXTENSION EXPIRY DATE 

10-Nov-2023 05-Jan-2024 09-Feb-2024 

 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at planning 
committees, including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 
 
Public speaking at committee link 
 
LOCATION PLAN  

 

 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
  

Originator: Laura Yeadon 
 
Tel: 01484 221000 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf


 
 
Electoral wards affected: Ashbrow 
 
Ward Councillors consulted: No  
 
Public or private: Public 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
DELEGATE approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice 
to the Head of Planning and Development in order to complete the list of 
conditions including those contained within this report. 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION: 
 
1.1 This application has been brought to the Huddersfield Planning Sub Committee 

at the request of Ward Councillor Zarina Amin on the basis of the impact of the 
development as a result of overlooking and to allow the consideration of 
suitable mitigation measures to address this impact.   

 
1.2 The Chair of the Sub-Committee has confirmed that Cllr Z Amin’s reasons 

for the referral to the committee are valid having regard to the Councillor’s 
Protocol for Planning Committees. 
 

2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS: 
 
2.1 18 Saint Francis Gardens is a large-detached property located within a 

predominantly residential area with an area of vacant land to the north, and 
residential properties to the south and west of the site, to the east are the 
amenity spaces of neighbouring residential properties beyond which is vacant 
land which hosts vegetation and mature trees.  

 
2.2 The property is an ‘L’ shaped building, a mix of single and two storeys in height 

and constructed from stone. The property is to the north-eastern corner within 
the established cul-de-sac known as Saint Francis Gardens. There is a 
driveway to the front of the property which leads to an integral garage and 
amenity spaces are located to the front, side and rear.  

 
3.0 PROPOSAL: 
 
3.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of a single storey extension 

and raised terrace. 
 
3.2 With the exception of the treatment of the glazing to ensure it is obscured to 

achieve level 4 standard of obscurity (as identified to a number of the window 
panels and annotated upon the submitted plans), the works for which 
permission is sought have been carried out and completed on site. This 
application seeks planning permission for this development. 

  

Page 8



 
Single storey extension: 
 
3.3 The proposed single storey extension is located on the eastern side elevation 

of the property. The extension projects to the side by 2.3 metres and is set back 
from the principal elevation by 1.7 metres. The depth of the extension is 5 
metres and it lies flush with the rear elevation of the property. It has a chamfered 
corner to the south-east. The eaves height of the structure is 3.47 metres with 
an overall height of 4.18m. The extension is glazed and finished with aluminium 
frames of a dark grey colour finish which are infilled with clear glazed panels. 

 
3.4 The single storey extension is constructed upon an under build which is a total 

height of 1.2 metres and is at the same level as the terrace to the rear and the 
finished floor level of the property.  

 
3.5 It is proposed that the glazing within the southern and eastern elevations 

(including the chamfered section to the south eastern corner) would be treated 
to ensure it is obscured to achieve level 4 standard of obscurity from the internal 
floor level to a height of 1.7 metres.  

 
3.6 Clear glazed openings have been installed into the rear elevation of the single 

storey extension and also within the ground floor rear elevation of the main body 
of the property.  

 
Raised terrace: 
 
3.7 The raised terrace/patio is located to the side and rear of the property and partly 

forms an under-build to the single storey extension to side.  
 
3.8 The terraced area projects 2.4 metres from the rear elevation of the property 

and lies flush with the side elevation of the extension. Due to changes in ground 
levels to the rear, the terrace is at varying height of between 0.27 metres and 
1.03 metres above the external ground level. The terrace has a surfaced finish 
of off-white porcelain tiles, accommodates a glass balustrade sited beyond the 
rear elevation of the host property to the northern elevation of the terrace and 
also accommodates areas which form soft landscaped planters.  

 
4.0  HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:  
 
4.1 Details of the windows to be treated to ensure they are obscured to achieve a 

level 4 standard of obscurity have been submitted within further plans received 
6th December 2023.  

 
5.0 PLANNING HISTORY:    
 
5.1 The planning history of the site relates to the following:  
 

2006/93878 – Erection of ground and first floor extensions – Conditional  Full 
Permission for the development was granted on 30th October 2006.  

 
5.2 As the development granted by permission 2006/93878 has been implemented 

it is considered that it is limited relevance to the consideration of this application.  
 

Page 9



5.3 The application has been submitted following a complaint raised with the 
Council’s Planning Compliance Team (ref: COMP/23/0432).  

 
6.0 REPRESENTATIONS:  
 
6.1 The application was advertised in accordance with the legal statutory publicity 

requirements, as incorporated and set out at Table 1 of the Kirklees 
Development Management Charter. As such, this application has been 
publicised by neighbour notification letters.  

 
6.2 As a result of the public consultation period two representations have been 

received with the summary of comments set out below: 
 

 Lack of privacy resulting from the extension and raised terrace  
 Neighbouring garden overlooked and overshadowed 
 The extension is overbearing and out of character in terms of appearance 
 The original design of the dwelling, including its impact upon privacy has been 

affected by the development.  
 Result of elevated extension is a large, overbearing, overlooking, structure 

which overshadows a well-used private neighbouring amenity space 
 A permanent solution rather than bushes/shrubs is required to screen the 

development  
 Consider that obscure glazing and/or treatment of existing glazing to ensure it 

is obscured to achieve level 4 standard of obscurity would not sufficiently 
resolve the issue of privacy and is not a permanent solution.  

 Where representations have been made by third parties objecting to another 
application for a dwelling nearby on the grounds of overlooking, the application 
was refused.  

 Developments at other properties in the area sought to reduce overlooking of 
the neighbouring dwellings through the use, amongst other things, of obscure 
glazing; 

 Noise arose during the construction phase 
 Representation intimates they were informed planning permission was not 

required for the development undertaken. 
 

6.3 A supporting statement on behalf of the application has been submitted as part 
of the application submission documents, with the following being a summary 
of the points raised: 

 
 Given the separation distance of the extension from the neighbouring boundary, 

and that the extension is single storey in height, it is not considered to result in 
overshadowing to neighbouring dwellings.  

 Extension and raised terrace are set back from shared boundary and would not 
result in an overbearing impact 

 Consider a condition to ensure the glazing is treated to ensure it is obscured to 
achieve level 4 standard of obscurity a sufficient level of required mitigation.  
 

6.4 Ward Cllr Amin requested the application be reported to Sub-Committee for 
determination for the reason set out in Section 1 of the report. 

 
7.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES:  
 
7.1 None  
 

Page 10



8.0 PLANNING POLICY:  
 
8.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory Development 
Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 2019).  

 
8.2 The site is without notation on the Kirklees Local Plan. Policies considered 

relevant to the determination of this application are as follows:  
 
Kirklees Local Plan: 
 

- LP 1   – Achieving sustainable development 
- LP 2   – Place shaping 
- LP 21 – Highways safety 
- LP 22 – Parking 
- LP 24 – Design 
- LP 30 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
- LP 53 – Contaminated and unstable land 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents: 
 

- House Extensions and Alterations SPD (2021) 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
 

- Chapter 2    – Achieving sustainable development  
- Chapter 12  – Achieving well-designed and beautiful places  
- Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding & coastal 

change. 
- Chapter 15  – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  

 
Legislation  
 

- The Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
- The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
- The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 
9.0 MAIN ISSUES  
 

- Principle of development  
- Impact upon the character and appearance of the area  
- Residential amenity  
- Highway issues  
- Other matters  
- Representations 

  

Page 11



 
10.0 APPRAISAL  
 
Principle of development:  
 
10.1 The site is without notation on the Kirklees Local Plan. Policy LP1 states that 

when considering development proposals, the Council will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. LP1 goes on further to 
stating that: 

 
‘The Council will always work pro-actively with applicants jointly to find solutions 
which mean that the proposal can be approved wherever possible, and to 
secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions in the area.’ 

 
10.2 Policy LP2 of the Kirklees Local Plan sets out that all development proposals 

should seek to build on the strengths, opportunities and help address 
challenges identified in the Local Plan. 

 
10.3 Taking account of the development proposed, in this case, it can be stated that 

the principle of development is acceptable subject to the assessment of impacts 
on visual and residential amenity, as well as other matters which are discussed 
in greater detail in the following report.  

 
Impact on visual amenity: 
 
10.4 Policy LP24 of Kirklees Local Plan and Chapter 12 of the NPPF set out that 

development should be of good design. Key Design Principles 1 and 2 of the 
Council’s adopted House Extensions & Alterations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) seek to ensure development is subservient to the host 
property and in keeping with the character of the locality and host property.  

 
10.5 Within the adopted SPD, Key Design Principles 1 and 2 are relevant to the 

consideration of the principle of the development & visual amenity and are 
considered within the following report. These policies state the following: 

 
Principle 1 – states that “extensions and alterations to residential properties 
should be in keeping with the appearance, scale, design, and local character of 
the area and the street scene.” 
 
Principle 2 – states that “extensions should not dominate or be larger than the 
original house and should be in keeping with the existing building in terms of 
scale, materials and detail.” 

 
10.6 Within Section 5.17 of the House Extensions and Alterations SPD reference is 

made to single storey side extensions insofar that they should be offset and 
complement the original building and that the single storey side extension 
adhered to the following: 
 
- not extend more than two thirds of the width of the original house;  
- not exceed a height of 4 metres; and 
- be set back at least 500mm from the original building line to allow for a visual 

break. 

Page 12



 
10.7 The works also include an area of raised terrace. Whilst the House Extensions 

and Alterations SPD does not specifically refer to terraces, section 5.28 refers 
to balconies / roof terraces which states that these should be: 

 
- Positioned, and screened if required, so that they do not overlook 

neighbouring homes or gardens.  
- Sited away from locations that are sensitive to additional noise levels or 

disruption. 
 
10.8 Within section 5.7 of the House Extensions and Alterations SPD direct 

reference is made to conservatories. This states the following:  
 

Conservatories and summer rooms are classed as extensions. They should be 
in keeping with the original house, not overlook a neighbouring property and 
not over dominate adjacent gardens. A conservatory which would overlook a 
property next-door will not be allowed unless the view from to the neighbouring 
boundary is sufficiently screened by a fence, wall or hedge to protect the privacy 
of adjoining neighbours. 

 
10.9 A ‘comply or justify’ approach is set out in paragraphs 1.9 – 1.11 of the House 

Extensions and Alterations SPD and sets out that in cases where proposals 
depart from the guidance set out there is a need to provide a full justification.  

 
10.10 The development comprises two elements: the single storey extension and the 

raised terrace. In terms of the single storey extension, this is located to the side 
elevation of the property and is formed over an under-build structure. The 
design of the extension is that of a glazed structure within a dark grey aluminium 
frame. Internally it creates an extension to the kitchen/dining room.  

 
10.11 Whilst the extension described above has been completed; the submitted plans 

seeking planning permission demonstrate that the glazing would be treated to 
ensure it is obscured to achieve level 4 standard of obscurity (south and eastern 
elevations). The structure is positioned above an under-build at a height of 1.2 
metres which is externally faced in stone and render. 

 
10.12 The glazed design of the structure is akin to a conservatory. Viewed as a light-

weight, contemporary addition to a dwelling, that is itself modern in appearance, 
this extension would be in keeping with the original house and would not 
dominate the original form. This would comply with Key Design Principle 2 of 
the SPD.  

 
10.13 The extension, in its own right, would not extend more than two thirds of the 

width of the original property and is set back from the front wall of the house by 
more than 500mm. Whilst it is noted that the extension would be more than 4 
metres in overall height, it is considered that the additional 0.18cm would cause 
no undue harm to visual amenity. Due to the location of the extension, this 
would be largely screened from the street scene and would therefore comply 
with Key Design Principle 1 of the SPD in terms of the character of the area.  

  

Page 13



 
10.14 It is acknowledged that the development proposed is to a dwelling which has 

been substantially developed with first floor and single storey extensions 
granted consent in 2006 (detailed in section 5 of this report). The development 
before members would not increase the size / massing of these previously 
approved extensions; the proposed extension is to the original eastern 
elevation.  It is considered that the cumulative visual impact of extensions would 
still allow the original dwelling to be clearly read.  

 
10.15 In terms of the terraced area, due to the difference in levels, the height of the 

terrace varies between 0.27cm in height and 1.03 metres in height. The terrace 
is to the rear of the property, including to the rear of the proposed extension.  
The surface materials are off-white porcelain tiles. The visual impact of the 
terrace is considered to be modest, this element of the development is 
considered to be in keeping with the style and character of the host property / 
wider area.   

 
10.16 The extension and raised terrace are considered to relate satisfactorily to the 

host building and have an acceptable impact on visual amenity, in accordance 
with the requirements of policies LP1, LP2 & LP24 of the Kirklees Local Plan, 
having regard to principles 1 and 2 of the Supplementary Planning Document 
on House Extensions (SPD) and policies within Chapter 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
3 – Impact on residential amenity: 
 
10.17 Policy LP24 of the Kirklees Local Plan and policies within Chapter 12 of the 

NPPF seek to ensure development has an acceptable impact upon the amenity 
of neighbouring occupiers. Key Design Principles 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the Council’s 
adopted House Extensions & Alterations SPD seek to ensure development 
does not have a detrimental impact upon privacy of neighbouring occupiers, 
cause unacceptable levels of overshadowing or be unacceptably oppressive / 
overbearing. 

 
10.18 Within Section 5.16 of the House Extensions and Alterations SPD reference is 

made to side extensions ensuring they maintain the quality of the environment 
for neighbours, and in particular that they ensure reasonable levels of natural 
light to the habitable rooms in neighbouring properties and position windows to 
minimise or avoid any potential overlook into neighbouring gardens.  
 

10.19 As set out in paragraph 10.8 of this report, Section 5.7 of the House Extensions 
and Alterations SPD is relevant. This sets out that conservatories be suitably 
screened to prevent overlooking. In this case the approach undertaken to 
provide mitigation to prevent overlooking taking place is considered in the 
following (paragraphs 10.21 – 10.24).    

  
10.20 Key Design Principle 7 requires that extensions should ensure that 

appropriately sized and useable areas of outdoor space is retained and in this 
instance, due to the extent of curtilage and as demonstrated on the submitted 
block plan, the development is not considered to result in an overdevelopment 
of the site as a usable garden space would remain.  

  

Page 14



 
10.21 The proposed extension is currently clear glazed to the east, south and north 

elevations. As part of this application, it is proposed that the windows on the 
south, south-east and eastern elevations would be treated to ensure they are 
obscured to achieve level 4 standard of obscurity. The height of the obscurity 
would be from the internal floor level of the extension to a hight of 1.7m.  

 
10.22 Third party representations have been received during the processing of this 

application, raising concerns about overlooking from the extension and terrace. 
It is considered that subject to condition requiring the treatment of the windows 
to the south, south-east and eastern elevations to ensure they are obscured to 
achieve level 4 standard of obscurity, suitable mitigation can be ensured which 
overcomes the impact of the extension as a result of overlooking from the single 
storey extensions south, south east and eastern elevations.  

 
10.23 With regard to the raised terrace, this is to the rear of the extension, with steps 

leading up to the terrace which begin in line with the side elevation of the 
extension. It is considered that the impact of potential overlooking from the 
proposed terrace would not be undue, as it is of relatively narrow depth to the 
rear of the property; and in conjunction with the obscuration of glazing in the 
extension.  

 
10.24 In this case it is considered there is sufficient justification which ensures that 

non-compliance with the House Extensions and Alterations SPD (in relation to 
guidance relating to conservatories as detailed in section 5.7) would not be of 
such significance as to warrant refusal. Justification in this case relates to the 
distance the single storey side extension is sited from the shared boundary and 
the treatment of the south, south-east and eastern elevations to ensure they 
are obscured to achieve level 4 standard of obscurity. Subject to condition it is 
considered suitable mitigation can be ensured in this case.  

 
10.25 In terms of the separation distance between the extension, terrace and the 

shared boundary with the neighbouring property, the submitted plans indicate 
that the extension would be set in from the shared boundary by 2.25m. Whilst 
the application site is at a higher land level than the garden space to the 
neighbouring property to the east, it is considered the difference in levels is not 
to such a degree that the development has a significant impact upon light 
enjoyed by neighbouring occupiers. As such the development is considered to 
be acceptable with regard to overshadowing.  

 
10.26 Furthermore, taking account the distance of the development from 

neighbouring occupiers and the size / scale of the terrace and single storey side 
extension it is considered the development does not have an unduly oppressive 
or overbearing impact and is acceptable in this regard.  

 
10.27 Therefore, it is considered that, subject to condition, the development is 

acceptable in terms of residential amenity. It is considered there is no significant 
undue impact on neighbouring properties, in terms of overshadowing, 
overbearing or overlooking (subject to condition) in relation to ensure the south, 
south-east and east windows are obscured to achieve level 4 standard of 
obscurity. With this the development would accord with policies LP1, LP2 & 
LP24 of the Kirklees Local Plan, Principles 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the Council’s adopted 
House Extensions & Alterations Supplementary Planning Document as well as 
policies within chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 15



 
4 – Impact on highway safety: 
 
10.28 Policies LP21 and LP22 of the Kirklees Local Plan relate to access and highway 

safety and are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this application. 
The Council’s adopted Highway Design Guide and Key Design Principle 15 of 
the adopted House Extensions & Alterations SPD which seek to ensure 
acceptable levels of off-street parking are retained are also considered to be of 
relevance.  

 
10.29 In this case the proposed works would not increase the number of bedrooms to 

the property. There is existing parking available for the property within the red 
line boundary of the site and this would not be lost as a result of the proposed 
works.  

 
10.30 It is also noted that there is sufficient space within the site boundary to 

accommodate bin storage and therefore would comply with Key Design 
Principle 16 of the SPD.  

 
5 – Other matters: 
 
Climate Change  
 
10.31 Principle 8 of the Kirklees House Extensions and Alterations SPD states that 

extensions and alterations should, where practicable, maximise energy 
efficiency. Principle 9 goes on to highlight that the use of innovative construction 
materials and techniques, including reclaimed and recycled materials should 
be used where possible. Furthermore, Principles 10 and 11 request that 
extensions and alterations consider the use of renewable energy and designing 
water retention into the proposals.  

 

10.32 On 12th November 2019, the Council adopted a target for achieving ‘net zero’ 
carbon emissions by 2038, with an accompanying carbon budget set by the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. National Planning Policy 
includes a requirement to promote carbon reduction and enhance resilience to 
climate change through the planning system and these principles have been 
incorporated into the formulation of Local Plan policies. The Local Plan pre-
dates the declaration of a climate emergency and the net zero carbon target, 
however it includes a series of policies which are used to assess the suitability 
of planning applications in the context of climate change. When determining 
planning applications the Council will use the relevant Local Plan policies and 
guidance documents to embed the climate change agenda. 

 

10.33 A Climate Change Statement has been submitted which identifies climate 
change measures within the build which are considered acceptable for the size 
of development applied for.  

 
Biodiversity  
 
10.34 Chapter 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework are relevant, together 

with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 which protect, 
by law, the habitat and animals of certain species including newts, bats and 
badgers.  

 

Page 16



10.35 Policy LP30 of the Kirklees Local Plan requires that proposals protect Habitats 
and Species of Principal Importance. Principle 12 of the Kirklees House 
Extensions and Alterations SPD states that extensions and alterations should 
consider how they might contribute towards the enhancement of the natural 
environment and biodiversity.  

 
10.36 The application site is within a ‘Bat Alert’ layer on the Council’s GIS system. 

Whilst formal comments have not been requested from an Ecology & 
Biodiversity Officer it is considered that a Bat Survey was not required in this 
instance.  This is on the basis that the majority of works for which consent is 
sought have been carried out and it would not serve a useful purpose to require 
the submission of such information. In addition, the development does not 
impact on the existing roof of the building and the walls are of modern 
construction without cracks or crevices. There is not a reasonable likelihood 
that this part of the building would provide a bat roodt. 

 
Coal legacy  
 
10.37 The site is located within the Coal Authority’s “Development Low Risk Area”. 

There is no statutory requirement to consult the Coal Authority regarding 
development within the “Development Low Risk Area”, instead an informative 
note can be appended to the decision notice which constitutes the deemed 
consultation response. The application site falls within an area at low risk of 
ground movement as a result of past mining activities as determined by the 
Coal Authority. As such it is considered that it is unnecessary in this case to 
require a survey of land stability to be carried out with regard to previous mining 
activity which may have taken place within the locality. It is recommended that 
the Coal Authority’s standing advice is provided with any grant of approval. As 
such it is considered that the proposal is acceptable with regard to ground 
stability in accordance with paragraphs 180 and 189 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
Representations 
 
10.38 Insofar as they are not addressed elsewhere in this report, the third party 

representations received are addressed as follows:  
 

 Obscure glass or film on the clear glass would not sufficiently resolve the issue 
of privacy and is not a permanent solution and a permanent solution is required  

 
10.39 It is considered that the method of ensuring the glazing can be obscured to 

achieve level 4 standard of obscurity can reasonably be undertaken by the 
application of a film internally to the existing clear glazing. This conclusion is 
cognisant of the requirements of paragraphs 55 and 56 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework which sets out the following:  

 
Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not 
possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.  
 
Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they 
are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects  

Page 17



 
10.40 It is considered that it would be unreasonable of the LPA to insist that the 

method of achieving obscurity level 4 to the glass in the south, east and south 
east elevations should be as a result of replacement of the glazing. It is 
considered a reasonable approach as an equally effective, alternative is 
possible (application of a film internally). It is considered such a condition would 
meet the other requirements in terms of being necessary, relevant to planning 
and the development, enforceable and such a condition can be worded 
precisely.  

 
10.41 It should be noted that replacement of glass would be equally possible as the 

removal of an internally applied film and enforcement action could be 
undertaken by the Council were such an event to take place in the future 
following any grant of permission. Finally, it is not considered to be in the 
interests of sustainable development to require the replacement of glazing 
when a more environmentally friendly alternative which utilises resources to a 
lesser extent is possible.  

 
 Where representations have been made by third parties objecting to another 

application for a dwelling nearby on the grounds of overlooking, the application 
was refused.  

 
10.42 Each application is assessed on the basis of its own merits in relation to the 

considerations of all material planning considerations. Local opposition or 
support for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning 
permission, unless it is founded upon valid material planning reasons. 

 
 Developments at other properties in the area sought to reduce overlooking of 

the neighbouring dwellings through the use, amongst other things, of obscure 
glazing; 

 
10.43 This point is noted, with overlooking assessed within the ‘impact upon 

residential amenity’ section of this report.   
 

 Noise arose during the construction phase 
 
10.44 This point is noted, separate legislation would have allowed the Council to 

investigate noise complaints had it been at a nuisance level.  
 

 Representation intimates they were informed planning permission was not 
required for the development undertaken. 

 
10.45 It is considered this is not relevant to making the planning decision in question 

and does not constitute a material planning matter.  
 
11.0 CONCLUSION  
 
11.1 The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the Government’s 
view of what sustainable development means in practice.  

  

Page 18



 
11.2 This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 

development plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the 
development would constitute sustainable development and is therefore 
recommended for approval.  

 
12.0  CONDITIONS (Whilst the following is a summary list and full wording of 
conditions including any amendments/additions to be delegated to the Head of 
Planning and Development. For clarification, in this case, the wording of the 
requirement of the condition is included below) 
 
1. Development to be completed in accordance with the approved Plans and 
Specifications.  
 

Requirement: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
complete accordance with the plans and specifications schedule listed in this 
decision notice, except as may be specified in the conditions attached to this 
permission, which shall in all cases take precedence. 

 
2. Obscuration of the clear glazing within the southern, south-eastern and eastern 
elevations  
 

Requirement: Within one month of the date of this permission, all clear glazing 
within the eastern, south-eastern and southern elevations shall be either, fitted 
with obscure glazing and / or a permanently affixed film, which achieves a 
minimum privacy rating Grade 4. The obscure glazing and / or permanently 
affixed film shall be at a height of 1.7m when measured from the finished floor 
level in the locations detailed upon submitted drawing ref 05 RevA and retained 
thereafter in accordance with these requirements. 

 
Background Papers:  
 
Application and history files 
Planning Application Details 
 
Certificate of Ownership – Certificate A completed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f93291


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2: Minutes of previous meeting
	3: Declaration of Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	 Planning Applications
	8: Planning Application: 2023/93291
	Subject: Planning Application 2023/93291 Erection of single storey extension and raised terrace 18, Saint Francis Gardens, Fixby, Huddersfield, HD2 2EU


